Supporting Information

PdPt/SrTiO₃:Al-catalyzed redox-selective photoreduction of unsaturated carboxylic acids using minimal electron-donor and water

Shogo Mori,*^a Farzaneh Soleymani Movahed,^{b‡} Sha Xue,^{b‡} Yuji Sakai,^b Daling Lu,^c Takashi Hisatomi,^c Kazunari Domen,^{c,d} Susumu Saito^{*a,b}

a. Integrated Research Consortium on Chemical Sciences, Nagoya University, Chikusa, Nagoya, Aichi 464-8602, Japan.

b. Department of Chemistry, Graduate school of Science, Nagoya University, Chikusa, Nagoya, Aichi 464-8602, Japan.

c. Research Initiative for Supra-Materials, Interdisciplinary Cluster for Cutting Edge Research, Shinshu University, Wakasato, Nagano, Nagano, 380-8553, Japan.

d. Office of University Professors, The University of Tokyo, Yayoi, Bunkyo, Tokyo, 113-8656, Japan.

* To whom correspondence should be addressed.

S. Mori: mori.shogo.n1@f.mail.nagoya-u.ac.jp; S. Saito: saito.susumu.c4@f.mail.nagoya-u.ac.jp.

[‡] These authors contributed equally to this work.

Table of Contents

1. General method

2. Materials

- 3. Experimental section
 - a. Reaction setups
 - b. Recycling experiment
 - c. Screening of the reaction conditions
 - d. Control experiments: oxidative degradation of benzaldehyde and 2a; interpretation of degradation pathways
 - e. Reaction in D₂O
 - f. 1 mmol scale reaction
 - g. Non-polar substrates
 - h. Characterization of the photocatalyst
 - i. Isolated yields and characterization of products
- 4. Comparison with previously reported photocatalysts
- 5. Reference
- 6. ¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR spectra of the isolated products

1. General method

All the reactions were carried out under an N₂ atmosphere using oven-dried glassware and deionized water unless otherwise stated. Photocatalytic reactions were carried out utilizing PER-365 (λ = 365 nm, 0.5 W) purchased from Techno Sigma, a solar simulator $(\lambda = 350-1800 \text{ nm}, \text{HAL}-320\text{W})$ with a built-in AM1.5G filter purchased from ASAHI SPECTRA, or PR160L-370 Gen 2 (λ = 370 nm, 44 W) purchased from Kessil. ¹H NMR spectra were recorded on JEOL ECA-600 (600 MHz) at room temperature [chemical shift (δ) in ppm relative to tetramethylsilane in CDCl₃ (0.00 ppm) or a solvent peak (D₂O: 4.79 ppm), coupling constant (*J*) in Hz, and integration]. ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded on JEOL ECA-600 (151 MHz) at room temperature [chemical shift (δ) in ppm relative to CDCl₃ (77.2 ppm)]. The following abbreviations were used: s = singlet, d =doublet, t = triplet, q = quartet, and m = multiplet. The diffuse reflectance UV-visible (DR-UV-Vis) spectroscopy was conducted with a UV-2450 spectrometer (SHIMADZU). The XRD patterns were acquired using a MiniFlex 300 powder diffractometer (Rigaku) with Cu Ka radiation. The XPS was performed using a PHI Quantera II spectrometer (ULVAC-PHI) with an Al Ka radiation source. All binding energies were referenced to the C 11s peak (284.8 eV) arising from adventitious carbon. The images of electron microscopy were obtained by JEM-ARM 200F Cold (JEOL, accelerating voltage of 200 kV). TLC analysis was performed on commercial glass plates bearing a 0.25 mm layer of Merck TLC silica gel 60 GF254. µGC-TCD analyses were conducted in a dual channel micro gas chromatography (μ GC) system coupled to a thermal conductivity detector (TCD, Agilent 490). In the optimization study, organic compounds (1a, 2a and 3a) were quantified by ¹H NMR analysis using internal standards (mesitylene or 1,1,2,2-tetrachloroethane). We found that the amounts of them were accurately quantified with mesitylene, but they were overestimated with 1,1,2,2tetrachloroethane. Therefore, we made calibration lines, with which we could quantify them accurately using data based on 1,1,2,2-tetrachloroethane.

CDCl₃:





DMSO-*d*₆:



2. Materials

Chemicals

4-Vinylbenzoic acid (stabilized with BHT) (1e), (E)-4-methoxycinnamic acid (1b), phenylpropiolic acid (1f), 4-chlorocinnamic acid (1j), 4-bromocinnamic acid (1k), 4chlorobenzoic acid (1g), 4-bromobenzoic acid (1h), 4-iodobenzoic acid (1i), glycolic acid (GA) and trans-stilbene (4a) were purchased from Tokyo Chemical Industry. (E)-Cinnamic acid (1a), oxalic acid dihydrate, hydrochloric acid, sodium hydroxide (granular), potassium carbonate, sodium carbonate, calcium hydroxide, sodium borohydride (granulated), $SrCl_2$ (anhydrous), 1,1,2,2-tetrachloroethane, DMSO- d_6 and mesitylene were received from Kanto Chemical. 3-Methoxycinnamic acid (1c) was purchased from Thermo Fisher Scientific. H2PtCl6.6H2O and benzaldehyde were provided by FUJIFILM Wako Pure Chemical. Al₂O₃ (nanopowder), Pd(NO₃)₂, glyoxylic acid monohydrate, sodium phosphate, potassium hydroxide and diphenylacetylene (4b) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich. SrTiO₃ (STO) was provided from KOJUNDO Chemical Laboratory. (E)- α -Methylcinnamic acid (1d) was purchased through ACROS ORGANICS. Calcium carbonate was provided by NACALAI TESQUE, INC. Chloroform-d was purchased from Cambridge Isotope Laboratories. These chemicals were used without further purification.

Photocatalysts

STO:Al was prepared by a reported method.¹

PdPt/STO:Al (1.5 wt% Pd and Pt) was prepared according to a reported procedure.² STO:Al (1.0 g), H₂PtCl₆•6H₂O (40.1 mg, 0.08 mmol, 15 mg Pt), Pd(NO₃)₂ (32.3 mg, 0.14 mmol, 15 mg Pd), water (40 mL), and a stirrer bar were placed in a 100 mL round bottom flask with a wide neck and the mixture was subjected to ultrasonic vibration for 10 min. The reaction mixture was stirred vigorously at 80 °C for 16 h (until the solvent was fully evaporated). The obtained powder was grained gently and placed in an alumina crucible. The powder was calcined at 400 °C under air for 2 h (heating program: heating from room temperature to 400 °C for 5.5 h, keeping 400 °C for 2 h). After calcination, the powder was allowed to reach room temperature. Then, the powder was suspended in water (20 mL) in a 50 mL round bottom flask with a stirrer bar and was subjected to ultrasonic vibration for 10 min. NaBH₄ (2 mmol, ca.10 equiv with respect to the metals) in cool water (5 mL, 0 °C) was added dropwise into the flask at room temperature. The suspension was allowed to stir at room temperature for 2 h. The obtained solid was filtered and rinsed with water, and then the residual water was removed under reduced pressure. PdPt/STO:Al indicate PdPt/STO:Al (1.5 wt% Pd and Pt) unless otherwise noted.

Products

2a, $^{3} 2b$, $^{3} 2c$, $^{4} 2d$, $^{3} 2e$, $^{5} and <math>3a^{6}$ are reported compounds.

3. Experimental section

a. Reaction setups



Fig. S1. Reaction setup using techno-sigma lamp at elevated temperature. Important Note: the techno-sigma LEDs emit UV light in one direction only; therefore, the lamp tube in position C should be adjusted while the LED is facing the entire reaction mixture to ensure reproducibility. The reaction mixture exposed to the light from positions A and B cannot receive the maximum light irradiation.



Fig. S2. Reaction setup using solar simulator.



Fig. S3. Reaction setup using two Kessil lamps (for 1 mmol scale reaction).

b. Recycling experiment

An oven-dried Pyrex glass tube (height = 10.0 cm, diameter = 1.0 cm) was equipped with a Teflon-coated disc-shaped stirrer bar (diameter = 0.9 cm). 1a (0.1 mmol) and PdPt/STO:Al (10.0 mg) were added to the test tube, and then the tube was sealed with a rubber septum. The reaction atmosphere was replaced with N₂. Under the flow of N₂, an aqueous solution of NaOH (2 mL, 2 M) was added to the tube and the rubber septum was replaced with another one to which an NMR tube was inserted. After sonication for 1 min, techno-sigma lamp was inserted into the NMR tube and the reaction mixture was irradiated at 45 °C for 24 h. The reaction mixture was transferred into a 50 mL Falcon tube and was subjected to centrifugation (35,00 rpm, 10 min). The supernatant was decantated. Then, 20 mL of water was added to the solid and the mixture was centrifuged after vigorous shaking. The centrifugation/decantation was repeated three times. The solid residue was dried under reduced pressure, and the obtained powder was used as the photocatalyst in the next reaction run. The combined aqueous liquid was acidified by an aqueous solution of HCl (ca. 2 mL, 3 M) and extracted by diethyl ether three times. Residual water was removed from the combined organic layers using Na₂SO₄. After filtration and evaporation, the residue was analyzed by ¹H NMR using an internal standard (1,1,2,2-tetrachloroethane).

СООН		hv (λ = 365 nm) PdPt/STO:Al (10.0 mg) aq. NaOH (2 mL, 2 M) N ₂ , 45 °C, 24 h	СООН	СООН	
1a , 0.1 mmol		, then aq. HCi	2a	3a	
recycling procedure		centrifuga	tion		
reaction mixture	centrifugation /decantation	solid $+ H_2O$ /decantation	on collected photocatalyst		
		liquid (+ Et ₂ O + aq. HCl (2 mL, 3	3 M) extraction collection org. lay	ed dry vers ¹ H NMR	

1st run average yield of 2a: 86%			2nd run average yield of 2a: 82%, PDA = 5%			3rd run average yield of 2a: 76%, PDA = 12%					
entry	conversion of 1a (%)	yield of 2a (%)	yield of 3a (%)	entry	conversion of 1a (%)	yield of 2a (%)	yield of 3a (%)	entry	conversion of 1a (%)	yield of 2a (%)	yield of 3a (%)
1	>99	86	4	9	91	85	2	15	92	78	2
2	>99	81	4	10	92	77	2	16	97	70	3
-		0.	•		-	••	-	17	92	78	2
3	99	83	4	11	96	83	<1	18	92	79	2
4	99	89	4	12	96	83	<1	4th ru	า		
5	>99	88	4	13	95	83	1	averag	e yield of 2a	: 81%, PI	DA = 6%
6	99	89	4	14	94	80	1	entry	conversion of 1a (%)	yield of 2a (%)	yield of 3a (%)
7	99	85	4	1 1				10	04	04	
8	>99	89	4					19 20	94 89	80	4

Fig. S4. Catalyst recycling experiments. Conversions and yields were determined by ¹H NMR analysis. PDA: percentage decrease in activity comparing with the 1st run.

c. Screening of the reaction conditions

An oven-dried Pyrex glass tube (height = 10.0 cm, diameter = 1.0 cm) was equipped with a Teflon-coated disc-shaped stirrer bar (diameter = 0.9 cm). **1a** and photocatalyst (10.0 mg) were added to the test tube, and then the tube was sealed with a rubber septum. The reaction atmosphere was replaced with N₂. Under the flow of N₂, an aqueous solution of base (2 mL) was added to the tube and the rubber septum was replaced with another one to which an NMR tube was inserted. After sonication for 1 min, technosigma lamp was inserted into the NMR tube and the reaction mixture was irradiated at 45 °C for 24 h. The reaction mixture was transferred to a falcon tube (50 mL) with diethyl ether (ca. 15 mL) and an aqueous solution of HCl (ca. 2 mL, 3 M). The organic layer was separated. The aqueous layer was extracted with diethyl ether (ca. 5 mL) three times. Residual water was removed from the combined organic layers using Na₂SO₄. After filtration and evaporation, the residue was analyzed by ¹H NMR using an internal standard (mesitylene or 1,1,2,2-tetrachloroethane).

Table S1. Optimization of photocatalyst

Ĺ	COOH (المعلى) COOH (المحل) M/STO aq. Na N ₂ , 45 ; then	= 365 nm) D:AI (10.0 mg) ■OH (2 mL, 2 M) °C, 24 h aq. HCl	2a	OH	соон
entry	M/STO:AI		conversion of 1a (%) ^a	yield of 2a (%) ^a	yield of 3a (%) ^a
1	Pd(1.5 wt%)Pt(1.5 wt%)/	STO:AI	62	55	4
2	Pd(3 wt%)Pt(3 wt%)/STO	:Al	41	39	3
3	Pd(1 wt%)Pt(2 wt%)/STO	:Al	49	48	3
4	Pd(2 wt%)Pt(1 wt%)/STO	:Al	50	48	3
5	Pd(1.5 wt%)/STO:Al + Pt	(1.5 wt%)/STO:Al ^b	62	26	3
6	Pd(1.5 wt%)/STO:Al		24	19	<1
7	Pd(3 wt%)/STO:AI		25	13	<1
8	Pt(1.5 wt%)/STO:Al		23	22	2
9	Pt(3 wt%)/STO:Al		28	16	<1

^a Determined by ¹H NMR analysis.

^b Pd(1.5 wt%)/STO:Al (5.0 mg) + Pt(1.5 wt%)/STO:Al (5.0 mg).



Table S2. Optimization of base

Table S3. Optimization of NaOH concentration

Ĺ	COOH 1a, 0.2 mmol	hv (λ = 365 nm) PdPt/STO:Al (10.0 mg) aq. NaOH (2 mL, <i>X</i> M) N ₂ , 45 °C, 24 h ; then aq. HCl	COC 2a	DH	.СООН а
entry	NaOH (XM)	dispersion of photocatalyst	conversion of 1a (%) ^a	yield of 2a (%) ^a	yield of 3a (%) ^a
1	0	not dispersed	37	29	<1
2	1.0	partially dispersed	50	48	2
3	2.0	well-dispersed	62	55	4

^a Determined by ¹H NMR analysis.

Table S4. Control experiments.

СООН	$\frac{hv (\lambda = 365 \text{ nm})}{PdPt/STO:Al (10.0 \text{ mg})}$ aq. NaOH (2 mL, 2 M) N ₂ , 45 °C, 24 h		_СООН 〔	СООН	
mmol	; then aq. HCl	2a		3a	
difference		conversion of 1a (%) ^a	yield of 2a (%) ^a	yield of 3a (%) ^a	
none		>99	86	5	
with glycolic	c acid (0.034 mmol)	>99	>99	<1	
0.2 mmol of	1a	62	55	4	
without irrad	diation	11	<1	<1	
without pho	tocatalyst	10	<1	<1	
without irrad	diation and photocatalyst	10	<1	<1	
with tap wat	ter	>99	84	4	
under air		96	82	7	
with solar s	imulator	43	31	1	
with solar s	imulator, 96 h	>99	86	4	
	COOH mmol difference none with glycolic 0.2 mmol of without irrac without pho without irrac without irrac without irrac with tap wat under air with solar si with solar si	COOH $hv (\lambda = 365 \text{ nm})$ PdPt/STO:Al (10.0 mg) aq. NaOH (2 mL, 2 M) N2, 45 °C, 24 h ; then aq. HCldifferencenonewith glycolic acid (0.034 mmol)0.2 mmol of 1a without irradiation without irradiation without irradiation and photocatalyst with tap water under air with solar simulator with solar simulator, 96 h	COOH $hv (\lambda = 365 \text{ nm})$ PdPt/STO:Al (10.0 mg) aq. NaOH (2 mL, 2 M) N ₂ , 45 °C, 24 h ; then aq. HCl2adifferenceconversion of 1a (%) ^a none>99with glycolic acid (0.034 mmol)>990.2 mmol of 1a62without irradiation11without irradiation and photocatalyst10with tap water>99under air96with solar simulator43with solar simulator, 96 h>99	COOH $hv (\lambda = 365 \text{ nm})$ PdPt/STO:Al (10.0 mg) aq. NaOH (2 mL, 2 M) N ₂ , 45 °C, 24 h ; then aq. HCl $if (\lambda = 365 \text{ nm})$ PdPt/STO:Al (10.0 mg) 2adifferenceConversion of 1a (%) ^a yield of 2a (%) ^a none>9986 ×99with glycolic acid (0.034 mmol)>99>990.2 mmol of 1a6255 ×10without irradiation11<1 ×1 without irradiation and photocatalyst10<1with tap water>999984 	

^{*a*} Determined by ¹H NMR analysis. ^{*b*} See **Fig. S2** for the reaction setup.

d. Control experiments: oxidative degradation of benzaldehyde and 2a; interpretation of degradation pathways

2a or benzaldehyde was used as follows. An oven-dried Pyrex glass tube (height = 10.0 cm, diameter = 1.0 cm) was equipped with a Teflon-coated disc-shaped stirrer bar (diameter = 0.9 cm). **2a** (0.1 mmol) and PdPt/STO:Al (10.0 mg) were added to the test tube, and then the tube was sealed with a rubber septum. The reaction atmosphere was replaced with N₂. Under the flow of N₂, benzaldehyde (0.1 mmol) and an aqueous solution of NaOH (2 mL, 2 M) were added to the tube and the rubber septum was replaced with another one to which an NMR tube was inserted. After sonication for 1 min, techno-sigma lamp was inserted into the NMR tube and the reaction mixture was irradiated at 45 °C for 24 h. After an aqueous solution of HCl (ca. 2 mL, 3M) were injected into the reaction tube, gas-phase analysis of the headspace was carried out with μ GC-TCD. Then, the reaction mixture was transferred to a falcon tube (50 mL) with diethyl ether (ca. 15 mL). The organic layer was separated. The aqueous layer was extracted with diethyl ether (ca. 5 mL) three times. Residual water was removed from the combined organic layers using Na₂SO₄. After filtration and evaporation, the residue was analyzed by ¹H NMR using an internal standard (mesitylene).



^{*b*} Determined by μ GC-TCD analysis.





^a Determined by ¹H NMR analysis. ^b Determined by μGC-TCD analysis.

Scheme S2. Reaction of 2a.



Scheme S3. (a) Possible pathways of oxidative degradation of 1a and 2a in the absence of GA. (b) Elucidation of the carbon-balance of the reaction without GA (Table 1, entry 7). 1a (100 μ mol) was fully consumed, and 2a (86 μ mol) was observed. Additionally, 3a (5 μ mol) was formed, which should be accompanied with CO₂ (10 μ mol). Given that the missing 1a (9 μ mol) was converted into CO₂ via 2a with its 9 carbon atoms per 1 molecule, 81 μ mol of CO₂ should be generated. Thus, the expected amount of CO₂ generated in total is calculated to be 91 μ mol. In the gas-phase analysis after acidifying the reaction mixture with aq. HCl, 50 μ mol of CO₂ was observed, which suggest that oxidative degradation of 1a and 2a occurred. The discrepancy between theoretical and experimental amounts of CO₂ (91 μ mol vs. 50 μ mol) can be attributable to the following two reasons:

- (i) High water solubility of CO₂: Considering CO₂ is very soluble in water (ca. 40 μ mol in 1 mL water, 1 atm, 25 °C), a portion of the generated CO₂ was dissolved in the aqueous media even after acidification, and was not detected in the gas-phase analysis.
- (ii) Quantification error: It should be noted that **1a**, **2a**, and **3a** were quantified by ¹H NMR analysis, which was not entirely accurate. In practice, the yields of **2a** were slightly varied among the eight reaction runs under the completely identical conditions (86±3%; Table 1, entry 7; Fig. S4, 1st run). The trivial difference in the yield of **2a** (±3 μ mol) leads to a huge difference of the theoretically expected amount of CO₂ generated during the oxidative degradation of **2a** with 9 carbons (9×(±3) = ±27 μ mol).

e. Reaction in D₂O







Fig. S5. (a) ¹H NMR analysis for the reaction in D₂O. (b) Plausible oxidative pathway of GA

f. 1 mmol scale reaction

In the reaction using 1a (1 mmol), minimal GA (0.34 mmol) under light irradiation of 24 h from stronger Kessil lamps, 1a was completely consumed, and 2a was obtained in moderate yield (77%) with negligible **3a** (1%) (Table S5, entry 1). Given that **1a** was oxidized to 3a in the absence of GA (Scheme S3a), GA would work as the dominant edonor for the hydrogenation of 1a, preventing the oxidative degradation of 1a to 3a. On the other hand, some unidentified side products were also observed by ¹H NMR analysis in the 24 h reaction. We conducted an additional experiment using a 1 mmol of 1a with a shortened reaction time of 8 h, where 2a was almost exclusively obtained (86%), while **3a** (1%) and unidentified side products were hardly detected (Table S5, entry 2). These results suggest that the minimal amount of GA (0.34 mmol) efficiently functioned as the 6e-donor for the hydrogenation of 1a (2e-acceptor, 1 mmol). It should also be noted that hydrogenated product 2a was decomposed to unidentified side products under strong light irradiation, and this was not completely deterred even by shortening reaction time. That is one reason why the yield of 2a in the 1 mmol-scale reaction (86%) was not as high as that in the 0.1 mmol-scale reaction (>99%, Table 1, entry 12).

Table S5. 1 mmol-scale reaction.



^a See Fig. S3 for the reaction setup.

^b Determined by ¹H NMR analysis.

g. Non-polar substrates



^a Determined by ¹H NMR analysis.

Scheme S4. Reactivity of non-polar organic compounds.



h. Characterization of the photocatalyst

Fig. S6. XPS spectra of (a) PdPt/STO:Al, (b) PdPt/STO:Al after the 4th run, and (c) reduced PdPt/STO:Al after the 4th run for Pd 3*d*, and (d–f) those for Pt 4*f*. (a) The binding energy of the Pd⁰ $3d_{5/2}$ peak of PdPt/STO:Al was lower than the standard value of bulk Pd⁰ (experimental: 335.0 eV; literature: 335.2 eV).⁷ (d) The same tendency was observed with the Pt⁰ $4f_{7/2}$ peak (experimental: 70.7 eV; literature: 71.2 eV).⁷ These XPS results suggest electronic interaction of both Pd and Pt with STO:Al. (c, f) Reduction of the PdPt/STO:Al recovered after the 4th run was conducted by the following procedure: The recovered PdPt/STO:Al (38 mg) after the 4th run in the recycling experiments was placed in an oven-dried 100 mL round-bottom flask with a stirrer bar. Water (40 mL) was added, and the

mixture was subjected to ultrasonic vibration for 10 min. NaBH₄ (0.08 mmol, ca. 10 equiv with respect to the metals) in cool water (5 mL, 0 $^{\circ}$ C) was added dropwise into the flask at room temperature. The suspension was allowed to stir at room temperature for 2 h. The obtained solid was filtered and rinsed with water, and then the residual water was removed under reduced pressure.



Table S6. Reactions using the reactivated PdPt/STO:A1.

^a Determined by ¹H NMR analysis.



Fig. S7. TEM images of PdPt/STO:Al (a) before the reaction and (b) after the 4th run.



Fig. S8. DR-UV-Vis spectra of PdPt/STO:Al, Pt (3 wt%)/STO:Al, Pd (3 wt%)/STO:Al, and STO:Al. The maximum absorption centers were located at 300–380 nm irrespective of the different metallic loading.



Fig. S9. (a) XRD patterns of PdPt/STO:Al, STO:Al, and STO (Miller indices are written above peaks in grey). (b) XRD peak shifting of STO and STO:Al. The diffraction peaks were assigned to the pure phase of STO with a Pm-3m space group (ICSD 23076). Although no observable peaks corresponding to Al, Pd and Pt species were detected, the dispersion of Al within the STO lattice could be realized based on the slight XRD peak shifts to the higher angles.

i. Isolated yields and characterization of products

General procedure

An oven-dried Pyrex glass tube (height = 10.0 cm, diameter = 1.0 cm) was equipped with a Teflon-coated disc-shaped stirrer bar (diameter = 0.9 cm). Unsaturated carboxylic acid or halogenated benzoic acid (1), GA and PdPt/STO:Al (10.0 mg) were added to the test tube, and then the tube was sealed with a rubber septum. The reaction atmosphere was replaced with N₂. Under the flow of N₂, an aqueous solution of NaOH (2 mL, 2 M) was added to the tube and the rubber septum was replaced with another one to which an NMR tube was inserted. After sonication for 1 min, techno-sigma lamp was inserted into the NMR tube and the reaction mixture was irradiated at 45 °C for 24 h. The reaction mixture was transferred to a falcon tube (50 mL) with diethyl ether (ca. 15 mL) and an aqueous solution of HCl (ca. 2 mL, 3 M). The organic layer was separated. The aqueous layer was extracted with diethyl ether (ca. 5 mL) three times. Residual water was removed from the combined organic layers using Na₂SO₄. After filtration and evaporation, the residue was analyzed by ¹H NMR using an internal standard (mesitylene). When the reaction was completed cleanly, the crude product was dried under reduced pressure to remove the internal standard and solvents, and the isolated yield was determined based on the weight of the residue.



3-Phenylpropanoic acid (2a)³

According to the general procedure, (*E*)-cinnamic acid (1a, 14.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) and GA (2.6 mg, 0.034 mmol) were used. The desirable product (2a, 13.4 mg, 0.089 mmol, 89%) was obtained as a white solid: ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): 7.30 (t, J = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 7.23–7.21 (m, 3H), 2.97 (t, J = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 2.69 (t, J = 7.8 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃): 178.4, 140.3, 128.8, 128.5, 126.6, 35.6, 30.8; ESI-MS: *m/z* calcd. for C₉H₉O₂ ([M-H]⁻) 149.0608, found 149.0607.



3-(4-Methoxyphenyl)propionic acid (2b)³

According to the general procedure, (*E*)-4-methoxycinnamic acid (**1b**, 17.6 mg, 0.10 mmol) and GA (2.7 mg, 0.035 mmol) were used. The desirable product (**2b**, 16.2 mg, 0.090 mmol, 90%) was obtained as a yellow solid: ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): 7.12 (d, J = 9.0 Hz, 2H), 6.84 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 3.79 (s, 3H), 2.90 (t, J = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 2.65

(t, J = 7.8 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃): 178.7, 158.3, 132.4, 129.4, 114.1, 55.4, 36.0, 29.9; ESI-MS: m/z calcd. for C₁₀H₁₁O₃ ([M-H]⁻) 179.0714, found 179.0708.



3-(3-Methoxyphenyl)propionic acid (2c)⁴

According to the general procedure, 3-methoxycinnamic acid (**1c**, 18.0 mg, 0.10 mmol) and GA (2.9 mg, 0.038 mmol) were used. The desirable product (**2c**, 17.1 mg, 0.094 mmol, 94%) was obtained as a yellow solid: ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): 7.23–7.20 (m, 1H), 6.81–6.76 (m, 3H), 3.80 (s, 3H), 2.94 (t, J = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 2.68 (t, J = 7.8 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃): 178.7, 159.9, 141.9, 129.8, 120.8, 114.3, 111.9, 55.4, 35.6, 30.8; ESI-MS: m/z calcd. for C₁₀H₁₁O₃ ([M-H]⁻) 179.0714, found 179.0720.

СООН

2-Methyl-3-phenylpropanoic acid (2d)³

According to the general procedure, (*E*)- α -methylcinnamic acid (**1d**, 16.2 mg, 0.10 mmol) and GA (2.8 mg, 0.036 mmol) were used. The desirable product (**2d**, 14.9 mg, 0.091 mmol, 91%) was obtained as a white solid: ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): 7.29 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 7.23–7.18 (m, 3H), 3.08 (dd, *J* = 13.8, 6.6 Hz, 1H), 2.80–2.74 (m, 1H), 2.68 (dd, *J* = 13.8, 8.4 Hz, 1H), 1.19 (d, *J* = 6.6 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃): 181.7, 139.2, 129.2, 128.6, 126.6, 41.3, 39.5, 16.7; ESI-MS: *m/z* calcd. for C₁₀H₁₁O₂ ([M-H]⁻) 163.0765, found 163.0758.



4-Ethylbenzoic acid (2e)⁵

According to the general procedure, 4-vinylbenzoic acid (1e, 15.2 mg, 0.10 mmol) and GA (2.7 mg, 0.035) were used. The desirable product (2e, 11.0 mg, 0.073 mmol, 71%) was obtained as a white solid: ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): 8.03 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.30 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 2.73 (q, J = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 1.27 (t, J = 7.8 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃): 172.3, 151.0, 130.6, 128.2, 126.9, 29.2, 15.4; ESI-MS: *m/z* calcd. for C₉H₉O₂ ([M-H]⁻) 149.0608, found 149.0606.



3-Phenylpropanoic acid (2a)³

According to the general procedure, phenylpropiolic acid (1f, 14.6 mg, 0.10 mmol) and GA (5.6 mg, 0.073 mmol) were used. The desirable product (2a, 14.2 mg, 0.095 mmol, 95%) was obtained as a white solid : ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): 7.30 (t, J = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 7.23–7.21 (m, 3H), 2.96 (t, J = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 2.69 (t, J = 7.8 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃): 178.9, 140.3, 128.8, 128.4, 126.6, 35.7, 30.8; ESI-MS: *m/z* calcd. for C₉H₉O₂ ([M-H]⁻) 149.0608, found 149.0608.



According to the general procedure, 4-chlorobenzoic acid (1g, 15.5 mg, 0.10 mmol) and GA (2.8 mg, 0.036 mmol) were used. The desirable product (3a, 11.6 mg, 0.095 mmol, 95%) was obtained as a white solid: ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): 8.13–8.12 (m, 2H), 7.62 (t, J =7.8 Hz, 1H), 7.49 (t, J =7.8 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃): 172.0, 134.0, 130.4, 129.4, 128.7; ESI-MS: m/z calcd. for C₇H₅O₂ ([M-H]⁻) 121.0295, found 121.0292.



According to the general procedure, 4-bromobenzoic acid (1h, 20.6 mg, 0.10 mmol) and GA (2.8 mg, 0.036 mmol) were used. The desirable product (3a, 10.1 mg, 0.083 mmol, 81%) was obtained as a white solid: ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): 8.14–8.12 (m, 2H), 7.62 (t, J =7.2 Hz, 1H), 7.49 (t, J =7.8 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃): 172.1, 134.0, 130.4, 129.5, 128.7; ESI-MS: m/z calcd. for C₇H₅O₂ ([M-H]⁻) 121.0295, found 121.0294.



According to the general procedure, 4-iodobenzoic acid (1i, 24.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) and GA (2.8 mg, 0.036 mmol) were used. The desirable product (3a, 11.0 mg, 0.090 mmol, 90%) was obtained as a white solid: ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): 8.13–8.12 (m, 2H), 7.62 (t, J =7.8 Hz, 1H), 7.49 (t, J =7.2 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃): 171.7,

134.0, 130.4, 129.4, 128.7; ESI-MS: m/z calcd. for C₇H₅O₂ ([M-H]⁻) 121.0295, found 121.0295.

СООН

3-Phenylpropanoic acid (2a)³

According to the general procedure, 4-chlorocinnamic acid (1j, 18.2 mg, 0.10 mmol) and GA (5.2 mg, 0.068 mmol) were used. The desirable product (2a, 11.2 mg, 0.075 mmol, 75%) was obtained as a white solid: ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): 7.30 (t, J = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 7.23–7.21 (m, 3H), 2.97 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 2.69 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃): 177.4, 140.3, 128.8, 128.5, 126.6, 35.5, 30.8; ESI-MS: m/z calcd. for C₉H₉O₂ ([M-H]⁻) 149.0608, found 149.0610.



3-Phenylpropanoic acid (2a)³

According to the general procedure, 4-bromocinnamic acid (1k, 22.9 mg, 0.10 mmol) and GA (5.1 mg, 0.067 mmol) were used. The desirable product (2a, 11.9 mg, 0.079 mmol, 79%) was obtained as a white solid: ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): 7.30 (t, J = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 7.23–7.21 (m, 3H), 2.97 (t, J = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 2.69 (t, J = 7.8 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃): 178.5, 140.3, 128.8, 128.5, 126.6, 35.6, 30.8; ESI-MS: m/z calcd. for C₉H₉O₂ ([M-H]⁻) 149.0608, found 149.0601.

4. Comparison with previously reported photocatalysts

Table S7. Comparison of photocatalysts for reduction of organic compounds using water as proton donor^a

Photo-	Main substrate (Sub)	Typical reaction	Efficiency	Selectivity	Reusability	Ref
catalyst ^b	and product (Pro)	conditions		for Pro	(PDA) ^d	
	studied					
Pd/TiO ₂	Sub = 4-	$hv(\lambda = 350 \text{ nm}), \text{ glucose}$	Conv. > 99%	99%	ca. 10% in	8
(25 mg)	nitroacetophenone	(0.5 mmol), H ₂ O (1 mL),	Yield > 99%		the 4th run	
	(0.1 mmol), Pro = 4-	25 °C, 12 h				
	aminoacetophenone					
PdPt/	Sub = 2-methyl-3-	<i>hν</i> (<i>λ</i> < 400 nm), CH₃OH	Conv. > 99%	94%	N.D.	9
TiO2	butyn-2-ol (0.5 mmol),	(2.5 mL) , H ₂ O (7.5 mL), 3	Yield = 94%			
(10 mg)	Pro = 2-methyl-3-	h				
	buten-2-ol					
porous	Sub = 4-iodoanisole	$hv(\lambda > 280 \text{ nm}), \text{ Na}_2\text{SO}_3$	Conv. > 99%	> 99%	ca. 10% in	10
CdSe	(0.1 mmol), Pro =	(1.25 mmol) , CH₃CN	Yield > 99%		the 3rd run;	
(5 mg)	anisole	(2.5 mL), H ₂ O (2.5 mL),			ca. 30% in	
		r.t., 2 h			the 4th run	
Pd/	Sub = β -methylstyrene	$hv(\lambda = 420 \text{ nm}), \text{ CD}_3\text{OD}$	Conv. N.D.	≥96%	N.D.	11
KPCN	(0.1 mmol), Pro =	(1.5 mL) , D ₂ O (1.5 mL),	Yield = 96%			
(10 mg)	Ph(CHD)₂CH₃	ethyl acetate (2 mL),				
		AICl ₃ (0.1 mmol), r.t., 4 h	-	000/		
Pd/g-C ₃ N₄	Sub = styrene (10	hv (visible light), Mg	Conv. > 99%	>99%	ca. 20% in	12
(30 mg)	mmol), Pro =	powder (15 mmol), H_2O	Yield > 99%		the 6th run	
	ethylbenzene	$(10 \text{ mL}), \text{ NiCl}_2 (1 \text{ mmol}),$				
A (0.10. (5	<u></u>	r.t., 12 h	0 000/	> 00%	50/ 1 1	10
Au/CdS (5	Sub = 4 -iodoanisole	$hv(\lambda > 400 \text{ nm}), \text{ Na}_2\text{SO}_3$	Conv. > 99%	> 99%	ca. 5% in the	13
mg)	(U.1 mmol), Pro =	(1 mmol), CH_3CN (2.5	Yield > 99%		4th run	
	anisole	mL), H_2O (2.5 mL), r.t.,				
D+/CND	Sub $-$ styrong (0.15	3000000000000000000000000000000000000		> 99%	< 10% in the	14
(15 mg)	Sub = signetie (0.15)	$IIV(\lambda = 420 \text{ mm}),$	Conv. = N.D.	2 00 /0		14
(15 mg)	ethylbenzene	mil) 1 4-diovane (3 ml)	neiu – <i>33</i> %		Surrun	
	ethylbenzene	$H_{2}O(2 \text{ mL})$ 35 °C 5 h				
Pd NSs/	Sub - 2-chloro-	$h_2(\lambda = 427 \text{ nm})$	Conv - N D	> 98%	ca 40% in	15
CPCN	benzonitrile (0.2	triethanolamine (0.9	Vield > 98%		the 4th run	15
(40 mg)	mmol) Pro =	ml) C_0H_0OH (1 ml)				
(10 119)	benzonitrile	H_2O (8.1 mL), 24 h				
TiO ₂ /	Sub = nitrobenzene	$h_{\chi}(\lambda = 365 \text{ nm})$	Conv = ND	≥ 99%	ca 10% in	16
Ce ₂ S ₃	(0.066 mmol). Pro =	triethanolamine (0.5	Yield = 99%		the 5th run	
nano-	aniline	mL) , 1,4-dioxane (4 mL),				
hybrid		H₂O (1 mL), 30 °C, 90				
(15 mg)		min				
D-ZIS	Sub = benzophenone	$hv(\lambda > 420 \text{ nm}), \text{Na}_2\text{SO}_3$	Conv. = N.D.	≥ 92%	ca. 20% in	17
(5 mg)	(0.1 mmol), Pro =	(2 mmol), CH ₃ CN (0.2	Yield = 92%		the 5th run	
	Ph ₂ CHOH	mL), H ₂ O (1.8 mL), 24 h				
CdSe	Sub = benzophenone	$hv(\lambda = 450 \text{ nm}),$	Conv. = N.D.	≥97%	ca. 15% in	18
QDs	(0.2 mmol), Pro =	triethylamine (0.4	Yield = 97%		the 5th run	
(40 nmol)	Ph ₂ CDOH (after work-	mmol), CH ₃ CN (2 mL),				
	up with H ₂ O)	D ₂ O (5 mmol), r.t., 12 h				
Pd ₁ /mpg-	Sub = styrene (0.1)	$hv(\lambda = 427 \text{ nm}),$	Conv. = N.D.	≥ 98%	ca. 20% in	19
C_3N_4	mmol), Pro =	triethanolamine (0.5	Yield = 98%		the 5th run	
(10 mg)	ethylbenzene	mL) , 1,4-dioxane (3 mL),				
		H ₂ O (2 mL), 35 °C, 10 h				

Pt/LCN	Sub = 4-nitrophenol	$hv(\lambda > 420 \text{ nm}),$	Conv. = 96.5%	98.9%	N.D.	20
(20 mg)	(0.01 mmol), Pro = 4-	triethanolamine (10	Yield = 95.4%			
	aminophenol	mL) , H ₂ O (90 mL), 20 °C				
		100 min				
Pd/g-C ₃ N ₄	Sub = 3,4-dimethoxy	$hv \ (\lambda = 365 \text{ nm}), \ \mathbf{1,4-}$	Conv. > 99%	85%	ca. 5% in the	21
(15 mg)	bromobenzene (0.5	dioxane (3 mL), H ₂ O (5	Yield = 85%		5th run;	
	mmol), Pro = 1,2-	mL) , FeCl ₃ •6H ₂ O (0.15			ca. 20% in	
	dimethoxybenzene	mmol), 25 °C, 20 h			the 7th run	
Ni-N/CN	Sub = 2-	hv (λ = 420 nm),	Conv. = 100%	92%	ca. 10% in	22
(20 mg)	ethynylnaphthalene	triethylamine (0.5	Yield = 92%		the 6th run	
	(0.1 mmol), Pro = 2-	mmol), CH ₃ CN (7 mL),				
	vinylnaphthalene	H ₂ O (3 mL), 25 °C, 3 h				
PdPt/STO:	Sub = trans-cinnamic	$hv(\lambda = 365 \text{ nm}), $ glycolic	Conv. > 99%	> 99%	6% in the 4th	This
Al (10 mg)	acids (0.1 mmol), Pro =	acid (0.034 mmol),	Yield > 99%		run	work
	3-phenylpropanoic	NaOH (4 mmol), H ₂ O (2				
	acid (after work-up with	mL), 45 °C, 24 h				
	aq. HCI)					

^a Collected are papers in which D₂O was used to elucidate the proton donor. N.D. = no data. ^b KPCN = K cations intercalated polymeric carbon nitride; $g-C_3N_4$ = graphitic carbon nitride; CNB = barbituric acid doped carbon nitride; NSs = nanosheets; CPCN = crystallined polymeric carbon nitrides; D-ZIS = defective two-dimensional ZnIn₂S₄; QDs = quantum dots; Pd₁/mpg-C₃N₄: palladium single-atom catalysts supported on mesoporous carbon nitride; LCN = 3D hierarchical porous loofah-like carbon nitride sponge; Ni-N/CN = tri-*s*-triazine nitrogen-ligated mononuclear Ni on carbon nitride nanosheets. ^c Plausible electron donors are indicated in bold font. ^d PDA: percentage decrease in activity comparing with the 1st run.

5. Reference

- 1 Y. Ham, T. Hisatomi, Y. Goto, Y. Moriya, Y. Sakata, A. Yamakata, J. Kubota and K. Domen, *J. Mater. Chem. A*, 2016, **4**, 3027–3033.
- Y. Shiraishi, K. Fujiwara, Y. Sugano, S. Ichikawa and T. Hirai, ACS Catal., 2013, 3, 312–320.
- 3 H. Seo, A. Liu and T. F. Jamison, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2017, **139**, 13969–13972.
- 4 D. Stubba, G. Lahm, M. Geffe, J. W. Runyon, A. J. Arduengo and T. Opatz, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.*, 2015, **54**, 14187–14189.
- 5 S. V. F. Hansen and T. Ulven, *Org. Lett.*, 2015, **17**, 2832–2835.
- H. Shi, J. Li, T. Wang, M. Rudolph and A. S. K. Hashmi, *Green Chem.*, 2022, 24, 5835–5841.
- 7 J. F. Moulder, W.F. Stickle, P. E. Sobol and K. D. Bomben, *Handbook of X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy*, Perkin-Elmer Corporation, Eden Prairie, 1992.
- 8 B. Zhou, J. Song, H. Zhou, T. Wu and B. Han, *Chem. Sci.*, 2016, 7, 463–468.
- 9 M. Li, N. Zhang, R. Long, W. Ye, C. Wang and Y. Xiong, *Small*, 2017, **13**, 1604173.
- C. Liu, Z. Chen, C. Su, X. Zhao, Q. Gao, G.-H. Ning, H. Zhu, W. Tang, K. Leng,
 W. Fu, B. Tian, X. Peng, J. Li, Q.-H. Xu, W. Zhou and K. P. Loh, *Nat. Commun.*,
 2018, 9, 80.
- 11 C. Qiu, Y. Xu, X. Fan, D. Xu, R. Tandiana, X. Ling, Y. Jiang, C. Liu, L. Yu, W. Chen and C. Su, *Adv. Sci.*, 2019, **6**, 1801403.
- 12 P. Sharma and Y. Sasson, *Green Chem.*, 2019, **21**, 261–268.
- 13 Y. Dong, Y. Su, L. Du, R. Wang, L. Zhang, D. Zhao and W. Xie, *ACS Nano*, 2019, **13**, 10754–10760.
- 14 C. Han, L. Du, M. Konarova, D.-C. Qi, D. L. Phillips and J. Xu, *ACS Catal.*, 2020, **10**, 9227–9235.
- 15 X. Ling, Y. Xu, S. Wu, M. Liu, P. Yang, C. Qiu, G. Zhang, H. Zhou and C. Su, *Sci. China Chem.*, 2020, **63**, 386–392.
- F. Xu, K. Meng, S. Cao, C. Jiang, T. Chen, J. Xu and J. Yu, ACS Catal., 2022, 12, 164–172.
- 17 C. Han, G. Han, S. Yao, L. Yuan, X. Liu, Z. Cao, A. Mannodi-Kanakkithodi and Y. Sun, *Adv. Sci.*, 2022, **9**, 2103408.
- X.-L. Nan, Y. Wang, X.-B. Li, C.-H. Tung and L.-Z. Wu, *Chem. Commun.*, 2021, 57, 6768–6771.
- 19 E. Zhao, M. Li, B. Xu, X.-L. Wang, Y. Jing, D. Ma, S. Mitchell, J. Pérez-Ramírez and Z. Chen, *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.*, 2022, **61**, e202207410.
- F. Yao, L. Dai, J. Bi, W. Xue, J. Deng, C. Fang, L. Zhang, H. Zhao, W. Zhang,
 P. Xiong, Y. Fu, J. Sun and J. Zhu, *Chem. Eng. J.*, 2022, 444, 136430.
- 21 Y. Guo, W. An, X. Tian, L. Xie and Y.-L. Ren, *Green Chem.*, 2022, **24**, 9211–9219.
- 22 T. Jia, D. Meng, R. Duan, H. Ji, H. Sheng, C. Chen, J. Li, W. Song and J. Zhao, *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.*, 2023, **62**, e202216511.

6. ¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR spectra of the isolated products

























































